
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday 23 November 2022. 

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Companies 
Committee  

     
 

 

Thursday, 1 December 2022 at 10.00 am 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Hannah Westropp (Chairman) 
Councillor John Dawson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing, Councillor Helen Crawford, Councillor Barry 
Dobson, Councillor Philip Knowles, Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley and Councillor Jill 
Thomas 
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the  
SKDC YouTube Channel 

 

 

1.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   Disclosure of interests 
 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting 
 

 

3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 7 October 2022 
 

(Pages 3 - 10) 

4.   Updates from the previous meeting 
 

To consider updates on Actions agreed at the previous meeting. 
 

(Page 11) 

5.   InvestSK Ltd - Presentation of Accounts 2021/2022 
 

The purpose of this report to Companies Committee is twofold, to:  
 
(a) Present the audited accounts for InvestSK Limited up to March 2022 

 

(b) Provide an overview of the successes, lessons learned, total spend 

and return on investment ahead of the dissolution of the Company.  

(Pages 13 - 47) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

6.   Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 

Under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public may 
be excluded from the meeting during any listed items of business, on the grounds that 
if they were to be present, exempt information could be disclosed to them as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 

7.   LeisureSK Ltd Draft Accounts 2021-2022 and Consideration of a 
Management Fee for 2023-2024 
 

To present to Companies Committee the draft financial accounts for 
LeisureSK Ltd up to 31 March 2022 and request consideration of the level 
of management fee being sought by LeisureSK Ltd from the Council for 
financial year 2023/2024. 
 

(Pages 49 - 71) 

8.   Gravitas Housing Ltd Project Update Report 
 

This report provides an update with respect to the Wherry’s Lane Bourne 
development project.   
 

(Pages 73 - 81) 

9.   Work Programme 2022 – 2023 
 

To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2022 – 2023. 
 

(Page 83) 

10.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reasons of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

 



 

 
 

Meeting of the 
Companies Committee 
 
Friday, 7 October 2022, 10.00 am 
 
Council Chamber – South Kesteven House,  
St Peter’s Hill, Grantham.  NG31 6PZ 

 

 

 

Committee Members present 
 

 

Councillor Hannah Westropp (Chairman) 
Councillor John Dawson (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield 
Councillor Ian Stokes 
 

 

Cabinet Members 
 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Director of EnvironmentSK Ltd and LeisureSK Ltd) 
 
Other Members present 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
 
Officers present  
 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 
Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer (Director of Gravitas Housing Ltd) 
Karen Whitfield, Assistant Director of Culture and Leisure 
Emma Whittaker, Assistant Director of Planning 
Claire Moses, Head of Revenues, Benefits and Customer Service 
(Director of EnvironmentSK Ltd) 
Michael Chester, Leisure Services 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 

 

 

 
55. Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies were received from Councillors’ Barry Dobson, Philip Knowles and Jill 
Thomas. 

 
Councillor Ian Stokes was a substitute for Councillor Barry Dobson and Councillor 
Nikki Manterfield substituted for Councillor Jill Thomas. 

 

3

Agenda Item 3



 

 
 

56. Disclosure of interests 
 

There were none. 
 

57. Minutes of the meeting held on 26 April 2022 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 26 April 2022 were proposed, seconded and 
AGREED. 

 
58. Updates from the previous meeting 

 
It was confirmed that actions had been completed as required. 

 
59. East Midlands Building Consultancy Update 

 
This report, presented by the Assistant Director of Planning had the purpose of 
taking reasonable steps to improve efficacy and visibility of the work of the East 
Midlands Building Consultancy (EMBC) which the Council currently collaborated 
with Rushcliffe Borough Council (RBC) and Newark and Sherwood District Council 
(N&SDC) on. 
 
This Committee last received a report on EMBC at its 23 February 2021 meeting. 
 
The Committee noted that Building Control was a statutory service provided by a 
local authority. Building Regulations set the minimum standards for design, 
construction and alterations to virtually every building. Building regulation approvals 
could be sought from the Council’s Building Control service or from an Approved 
Inspector (AI). In that regard the Council competed with AI’s for a share of the 
market. 
 
The partnership was originally set up in 2014 between SKDC and RBC, with N& 
SDC joining the partnership in 2015/2016. The partnership was based on a shared 
service agreement, with South Kesteven District Council delivering the EMBC 
service on behalf of each partner. Each council shared any financial surplus or 
deficit equally, operating financially under one single trading account. A Partnership 
Board comprising of senior officers from each partner authority had primary 
responsibility for overseeing the operational management and delivery of the joint 
building control partnership.  
 
The services provided by any Local Authority Building Control service were split 
between “fee earning” and “non-fee earning”. The fee earning aspect related to 
applications made to the Council for it to assess if the development met the Building 
Regulations. The Council was in direct competition with AI’s for this element of the 
workload. 
 
Non-fee earning work covered those aspects of the service that the Council was 
statutorily obliged to provide and includes maintaining a register of all Building 
Control approvals awarded in its area (whether issued by EMBC or by an AI), 

4



 

 
 

providing general advice to the public and undertaking work associated with 
dangerous structures. 

 
During discussion, Members raised the following points: 

 

• How long was the interim Manager expected to be in post? 
 

• The report quoted an average market share of 49%, what did this refer to 
exactly? 

 
The Assistant Director of Planning confirmed that the interim Manager had been in 
post since August 2022 under a contract of six months.  Recruitment was ongoing.  
The Officer confirmed that the 49% referred to the fee-earning work.  Applications 
were to be made to the Council partnership or to an Approved Inspector to check 
that work was compliant with current building control regulations. 

 
60. Exclusion of Press and Public 

 
In accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) the press and public were excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of EMBC Draft Business Plan, Appendix B because of the likelihood 
that otherwise exempt information as described in paragraph 3 of the Act would be 
disclosed to them. 
 
(At 10:11 the meeting went into closed session) 
 

61. Exempt Appendix B - East Midlands Building Consultancy Update Draft 
Business Plan 

 
The Committee discussed exempt Appendix B, see exempt minute. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That in noting the Quarter 1 performance and the draft business plan, 
Companies Committee:  

 
a) Considered whether there were any actions required in relation to the 

detail contained within this report for consideration by the East Midlands 
Building Consultancy Board. 
 

62. Dissolution of InvestSK Ltd 
 

The Corporate Plan (2020-2023), set out how the Council would promote the 
conditions to help businesses thrive and prosper. Investment in housing, town 
centre regeneration, building on and celebrating the rich heritage and culture, 
alongside employment and skills support, all contributed to creating a thriving 
working environment, essential for good growth and a vibrant local economy. 

 

5



 

 
 

In November 2021 the Board of InvestSK Limited undertook a review into the 
business operating model of the company and whether the function would be better 
delivered in-house.  The outcome of the review was to insource InvestSK Limited 
and Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of Employment) (TUPE) of staff to South 
Kesteven District Council as part of the Growth and Culture Directorate. Some of 
the advantages of insourcing identified through the review were:  

 
a) The roles and responsibilities would embed alongside Planning and 

Leisure & Cultural Services, under the leadership of the Director of 
Growth and Culture.  

 
b) Terms and Conditions for staff would improve to aid morale and 

retention.  
 

c) Potential to explore closer working with Council teams, as well as for 
partnerships with neighbouring local authorities to deliver efficiencies.  

 
Companies Committee subsequently endorsed the recommendation that InvestSK 
Limited as a company should be dissolved, the activity transferred to the Council 
and retention of the successful InvestSK brand.  The transfer of all five members of 
staff was completed on 31 March 2022.  As of 1 April 2022, all staff formerly 
employed by InvestSK Limited became employees of South Kesteven District 
Council. 
 
Prior to commencing the closure of the company, the company must have been in a 
position of not trading for a period of three months.  The final accounts have since 
been audited and a meeting with the InvestSK Limited Board took place on 18 
August 2022. The draft accounts were approved and were currently being 
processed for formal sign off.   Employees and Directors have been informed of the 
decision to close the company and His Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 
have been informed. 
 
Members raised the following points during discussion: 

 

• Were there any successes that the Council can learn from and take forward to 
the in-house business model? 

 

• Did being an arms-length company enable Invest SK Ltd to receive grants that 
otherwise would not have been available?  

 

• Were we still looking to join the UK Shared Prosperity Fund Scheme? 
 

• When can the Committee see how much was spent compared to what was 
achieved by Invest SK Ltd? 

 

• Lessons learnt need to be considered. 
 

6



 

 
 

• Are there further projects planned and has all the Heritage action zone funding 
been allocated for spending? 

 

• How would the effectiveness of business support be monitored in future? 
 

The Deputy Chief Executive confirmed that Invest SK Ltd was very successful in 
passing grants in a timely manner to the relevant businesses to enable them to 
continue through the Pandemic.  The company was also able to facilitate an 
increase in contact with local businesses and built up a brand that was liked and 
trusted.  It was confirmed that other projects were to be planned and the Heritage 
Action Zone funding was due to be allocated over a three-year period solely for 
spending in Grantham.  
 
The Officer continued that various grants were made available but being a separate 
company increased overhead costs as well and this had been considered and 
debated in past meetings.  It was confirmed that business support monitoring would 
be by six-monthly report to the scrutiny committee in line with the current 
framework.   
 
The Deputy Leader of the Council added that discussions were ongoing in 
reference to the UK Shared Prosperity fund and this would be shared with the 
Committee at a future date. 
 
ACTION 1: 
 
That the Companies Committee received a further copy of final accounts, 
detailing successes and lessons learnt alongside total spending and ROI by 
Invest SK Ltd. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That in noting the successful transfer of all InvestSK Limited staff into the 
Council’s Growth and Culture Directorate and progress made in dissolving 
the company, Companies Committee: 
 
a) Celebrated achievements made during the Business Plan period of 

September 2020 to March 2022.  
 

b) Recommended to Cabinet the effectiveness of business support 
continued to be monitored and Officers continued to seek feedback from 
South Kesteven small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) to ensure 
Council services continually improved in line with their needs. 
 

63. Leisure SK Ltd Accounts and Financial Year 2020-2021 
 

The report was presented by the Deputy Leader of the Council. 
 

7



 

 
 

LeisureSK Ltd is a not-for-profit Teckal company and is wholly owned by the 
Council.  Formed in September 2020, it was established to manage the Council’s 
leisure facilities, the associated management contract between the Council and 
LeisureSK Ltd commenced on 1 January 2021.  LeisureSK Ltd also delivered on 
the priority of being a high performing Council, managing finance and assets 
effectively, and identifying savings and efficiencies. 
 
The initial year of trading for LeisureSK Ltd was originally extended to cover a 
fifteen-month period to the end of March 2022. This enabled the assessment of any 
management fee required to be considered as part of the Council’s annual budget 
setting process.  Following the end of the financial year 2020/21, the Council 
commissioned Burgin & Co of Grantham, a practising member firm of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants, to prepare the company accounts for LeisureSK Ltd to 
March 2021.  These were signed off by Councillor Adam Stokes at a meeting of the 
Board of Directors held on 31 May 2022 and have already been filed at Companies 
House. 
 
For this period, September 2020 to March 2021, the company showed a loss of 
£40,086.  During this time, opportunities to attract income were limited due to the 
enforced closure of facilities as part of the Government’s response to the COVID 19 
pandemic.  Whilst the leisure centres remained closed, LeisureSK Ltd did receive a 
small amount of income from hiring out to the National Health Service Lincolnshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group (NHS CCG), the Table Tennis Centre at Grantham 
Meres Leisure Centre as the main local vaccination centre. 
 
Members raised the following points during discussion: 

 

• When would Stamford receive adequate leisure facilities for swimming? 
 

• What would the impact on Leisure SK Ltd be when Deepings Leisure Centre 
was fully reopened? 

 

• Was there enough in funds to fix Bourne and Stamford facilities? 
 

The Deputy Leader of the Council confirmed that Stamford and Bourne Leisure 
facilities were being maintained as required.  Bourne had received investment into 
new gym services.  Income from the Deepings Leisure Centre would be reinvested 
into Leisure SK Ltd.  The rise in energy costs brought pressures to the company, in 
particular, the heating of swimming pools which could not be turned off and on 
again. 
 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED: 
 
That the Committee: 
 
In noting the 2020/2021 accounts have been filed at Companies House for 
LeisureSK Ltd:  

 

8



 

 
 

a) Agreed to receive accounts for the period April 2021 to March 2022 at the 
November 2022 Companies Committee meeting.  
 

64. Environment SK Ltd - Finance Update including Financial Statements 2021-22 
 

At the meeting of the Committee on 25 January 2022, there were a number of 
financial matters raised in relation to the 2022/23 financial year which had been 
considered by the board of directors.  One of the key business issues that impacted 
on performance in 2021/22 was the recruitment and retention challenges 
associated with the national workforce shortage.  Environment SK Ltd reviewed a 
number of their employment and remuneration policies to address this issue for 
2022/23.  There were also a significant number of other cost pressures outside of 
the control of the business that impacted on the contract fee the service could be 
delivered for. Cost pressures included the increase in employer national insurance, 
utility price rises and significant increases in the price of vehicle fuel. 
 
The board of directors agreed an interim position of focusing on delivering SKDC 
core contract works and for other local public sector/non-profit making 
organisations.   A review led to a change in the loan repayment arrangements 
which had eased the financial pressures for the current financial year. 
 

65. Exclusion of Press and Public 
 

In accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) the press and public were excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of EMBC Draft Business Plan, Appendix B because of the likelihood 
that otherwise exempt information as described in paragraph 3 of the Act would be 
disclosed to them. 
 
(At 10:45 the meeting went into closed session) 

 
66. Exempt Appendix 1 - Environment SK Ltd Final Accounts 2021/22 

 
The Committee discussed exempt Appendix 1, see exempt minute. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Committee: 

 
a) Noted the 2021/22 final accounts for Environment SK Ltd.  

 
 
 

67. Work Programme 2022 - 2023 
 

The Committee noted the Work Programme for 2022 – 2023. 
 

9



 

 
 

The Chief Finance Officer informed Members that the Grounds Maintenance report 
was to be heard at the November meeting and would be required to be added as 
necessary. 

 
68. Any other business which the Chairman, by reasons of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

There were none.  
 

69. Close of meeting 
 

The Chairman closed the meeting at 11:10.  
 
 

10



Action Sheet 

To provide members with an update on actions agreed at the 7 October 2022 meeting of the Companies Committee. 
 

min 
no 

Agenda item Action(s) Assigned to Comments/Status Deadline 

62 Dissolution of 
InvestSK Ltd 

That the Companies 
Committee received a 
further copy of final 
accounts detailing 
successes and lessons 
learnt alongside total 
spending and ROI by Invest 
SK Ltd. 

Democratic 
Services Officer 

 Added to the Work Programme  
 
 

COMPLETE 

 

11

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Companies 
Committee 
 
 

1 December 2022  
 
Report of Councillor Kelham Cooke, 
Chairman of InvestSK Limited 
 
 

 

 

InvestSK Limited Accounts for 2021/2022  
 

Report Author 

Jon Hinde, Head of Economic Development 

  Jon.hinde@investsk.co.uk 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

The purpose of this report to Companies Committee is twofold, to:  

 

(a) Present the audited accounts for InvestSK Limited up to March 2022 and Audit Findings 

Report 

(b) Provide an overview of the successes, lessons learned, total spend and return on 

investment ahead of the dissolution of the Company.  

 

Recommendations 

In receiving the audited accounts for InvestSK Limited up to 31 March 2022, Companies 
Committee is requested to: 

1. Consider the information provided within the audited accounts as a true and 
accurate record of the expenditure incurred by InvestSK Limited during the 
operational year 2021/22 
 
 
 

 

 

 

13

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Growth and our economy 

High performing Council  

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1. Background to the Report 
 

1.1 To deliver on the vision contained in the Corporate Plan (2020-2023) to be the best 

district in which to live, work and visit, South Kesteven District Council looks to lead, 

influence and support business growth.  

 

1.2 At its October 2022 meeting, Companies Committee elected Members noted the 

successful transfer of all InvestSK Limited staff into the Council’s Growth and 

Culture Directorate, and progress made in dissolving the company. Whilst the 

achievements made during the Business Plan period of September 2020 to March 

2022 were celebrated, elected Members requested further details on successes, 

lessons learnt, total spending and Return on Investment (ROI) of InvestSK Limited. 

 

1.3 Companies Committee have been presented audited accounts of InvestSK Limited 

since the company’s incorporation in June 2018. 

 

1.4 This report presents the final audited accounts of InvestSK Limited for the fiscal 

year 2021/2022 (Appendix A), the Audit Findings report (Appendix B) and 

provides the additional detail requested by elected Members at the previous 

meeting of Companies Committee. 
 

Audited accounts for InvestSK Limited up to March 2022 

 

1.5 The accounts are a public record of the full Company expenditure during the 

financial year 2021/2022 and are publicly available under the InvestSK Limited 

Companies House registration (11413907).  Page four of the Annual Report and 

Financial Statements (Appendix A) confirms:  

 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s 

affairs as at 31 March 2022 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practices 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 

2006 

 

14



1.6 These are audited accounts carried out by externally appointed auditors, Duncan 

and Toplis. As confirmed on page 7 of the Annual Report and Financial Statements 

(Appendix A), InvestSK Limited income and expenditure account identifies overall 

expenditure by the company of £318,829. Page 8 of the Audit Findings report 

(Appendix B) identifies an unadjusted misstatement, effectively a transposition 

error.  This was a non-material error; therefore the accounts were not adjusted.  

 

1.7 Throughout 2021/2022 InvestSK Limited continued to focus on activities which align 

to the three key identified themes of the Business Plan approved by Companies 

Committee in September 2020, as follows:  

 

- Business Support  

- Regeneration and Placemaking  

- Tourism and the Visitor Economy  

 

1.8 As identified within the Directors report, as the remit of InvestSK Limited significantly 

reduced from when the company was first created, the decision was made by the 

Council during 2021/2022 that InvestSK Limited as a company would be dissolved.  

The aim being to remove the administrative burden associated with operating a 

separate company and allowing the team to focus on delivering intended activities 

and outputs for the Council, aligned to the Corporate Plan (2020-2023). 

 

1.9 This resulted in the activity of the company transferring to the Council's Growth and 

Culture Directorate following the successful TUPE transfer of the employees.  

TUPE stands for Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment). A 'TUPE 

transfer' happens when: an organisation, or part of it, is transferred from one 

employer to another. As of 1 April 2022, whilst retaining the brand of InvestSK, the 

team are now referred to as the Council’s Economic Development Service.   

 

1.10 As previously reported to Companies Committee on 7 October 2022, there are 

several actions required for striking off a company (see Background papers).  

Following the formal sign off of the company accounts 2021/2022, all requirements 

have now been met. 

 

Successes of InvestSK Limited 

 

1.11 Full details of the notable achievements delivered by the InvestSK Limited team 

between September 2020 and March 2022 can be found in 7 October 2022 

Companies Committee report (see Background Papers section). 

 

Lessons Learned 
 

1.12 The following seven lessons learned from operating InvestSK Limited are 

summarised as:  

15



• It is far more difficult for a Company to secure public funding than a Council with 

a track record and stability of finances and resources 

• When reducing resources, the same processes for administering a company 

apply, irrespective of the number of employees 

• A Company is likely to have less favourable terms and conditions for staff, such 

as access to the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 

• A Company is responsible to the Board and not the Council and therefore 

processes do not mirror those found in the Council 

• There is room for improvement in the Companies Committee Business Plan 

template to be more reflective and align to the Council’s service plan template 

and corporate plan 

• It is extremely difficult to commercialise delivery of economic development 

activity. As a result, it is largely a non-chargeable service and requires pump 

priming from the public sector 

• The Company name was misleading. In the early days there was a 

misunderstanding InvestSK Limited would be investing in companies.  
 

Total Spend 
 

1.13 In total, InvestSK Limited received £3,121,551 of funding from South Kesteven 
District Council.  As illustrated in the table below, the level of expenditure decreased 
year on year: 
 

Financial year 
South Kesteven District Council 

contribution 

2018/2019 (part year) £738,135 

2019/2020 £1,471,921 

2020/2021 £592,666 

2021/2022 £318,829 

 
Return on Investment 

1.14 In addition to the economic development and business support benefits delivered, 

the amount of external funding secured during the period September 2018 to March 

2022 equated to £11.77 million. This demonstrates a return on investment in 

external funding secured of £3.77 secured, for every £1 spent. 

 

Programme Fund Amount Fund Provider 

Grantham Future High Street 
Fund 

£5,600,000 
Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC) 

University Centre, Grantham £2,000,000 
Greater Lincolnshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership 
(GLLEP) 

Grantham High Street 
Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) 

£1,200,000 Historic England 

Changing Places £160,000 DLUHC 

16



Welcome Back Fund £250,000 DLUHC 

Garden Village designation 
fund 

£200,000 Homes England 

Witham Blue Green Corridor £750,000 
European Regional 
Development Fund (ERDF) 

Bourne and Deepings 
Community Projects 

£70,000 National Lottery 

Arts Funding programmes £1,540,000 Arts Council England (ACE) 

TOTAL £11,770,000   

 

2. Key Considerations 
 

2.1 As agreed at 7 October 2022 Companies Committee, a proposal will be made to 

Cabinet to consider the effectiveness of business support and for Officers to 

continue to seek feedback from South Kesteven small and medium sized 

enterprises (SMEs) to ensure Council services continually improve in line with their 

needs. 

 

3. Other Options Considered 
 

3.1 As private limited company, InvestSK Limited is obligated to compile financial 

accounts on an annual basis and file these with Companies House.  

 

4. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

4.1 To provide Companies Committee with progress made against the approved 

Business Plan for 2021/2022 and the requested information on InvestSK Limited by 

elected Members on 7 October 2022. 

 

5. Background Papers 
 

5.1 Dissolution of InvestSK Limited – Report to Companies Committee, published 7 

October 2022, available online at:  

 

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s35766/Dissoultion%20of%2

0InvestSK%20Ltd.pdfvestSK Ltd.pdf (southkesteven.gov.uk) 

6. Appendices 
 

6.1 Appendix A: InvestSK Limited Annual Report and Financial Statements for the 

year ended 31 March 2022 

  

6.2 Appendix B: Audit Findings Report InvestSK Limited (31 March 2022) 

 

 

 

 

17

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s35766/Dissoultion%20of%20InvestSK%20Ltd.pdfvestSK%20Ltd.pdf%20(southkesteven.gov.uk)
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s35766/Dissoultion%20of%20InvestSK%20Ltd.pdfvestSK%20Ltd.pdf%20(southkesteven.gov.uk)


This page is intentionally left blank



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AUDIT FINDINGS FOR 

INVESTSK LIMITED 

 

31 MARCH 2022 
  

35



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR InvestSK Limited CONTENTS 

Contents 

1. Introduction and coverage.......................................................................................... 1 

2. Issues identified at the planning stage ....................................................................... 2 

3. Issues identified during the audit ................................................................................ 4 

4. Internal control issues ................................................................................................ 5 

5. Uncertainties and account policies ............................................................................. 6 

6. Audit adjustments ...................................................................................................... 7 

7. Unadjusted misstatements ......................................................................................... 8 

8. Governance and control ............................................................................................. 9 

 

 

 

36



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 1 

1. Introduction and coverage  

This report summarises our key findings in connection with the audit of the financial 
statements in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022. 

The scope of our work has been discussed with you prior to the commencement of our 
audit. 

A summary of adjusted and unadjusted misstatements identified during the audit is 
included in section six and seven. 

We consider that the audit approach adopted will provide the directors with the required 
confidence that a thorough and robust audit has been carried out and can confirm that, at 
the date of this report, we anticipate no modifications from our pro-forma audit report which 
is an unqualified report. 

The auditor’s responsibility 

For clarification, our responsibilities concerning the audit of the company’s financial 
statements are contained within our letter of engagement. 

  

37



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 2 

2. Issues identified at the planning stage 

 

Key area of audit focus Our approach Resolution 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue recognition is an 
inherently risk area. 

We have noticed that there 
is a significant reduction in 
the total income in the 
current year. 

 

We will obtain and review 
sales documentation to 
ensure that total income 
disclosed is reasonable in 
comparison to the 
documentation. We shall 
also review a sample of 
invoices that InvestSK 
raises to SKDC to cover 
their costs to ensure these 
are recorded correctly. 

 

We have reviewed all of the 
sales invoices raised during 
the year and confirmed the 
completeness of income to 
agree to the amounts 
disclosed in the financial 
statement. We report no 
error on the completeness 
of income in the year. 

Management override 

There is an inherent risk 
that management can 
override the company’s 
systems and controls 
resulting in a misstatement 
of the financial results. 

 

The financial statements will 
be reviewed for areas where 
management is able to 
make significant judgements 
and estimates. We will also 
review journal entries for 
material or unusual amounts 
that could be evidence of 
management override. 

 

 

As part of our audit work,  
we reviewed all material 
balances and transactions  
in order to obtain 
satisfactory evidence and 
explanations. Our review of 
journal adjustments did not 
highlight any items that 
were deemed unusual and 
that indicated management 
bias. 

 

Related party transactions 

There is a risk of 

misstatement in the 

financial statements arising 

from related party 

transactions. 

 

 

The accounting records will 
be reviewed for transactions 
with connected entities to 
assess the commerciality of 
those dealings.  We will 
request that the directors 
complete a related party 
questionnaire which will be 
compared to the accounting 
records for completeness. 

 

 

External searches were 
satisfactorily completed, 
with the conclusion that 
there are no undeclared 
related parties that require 
disclosure. 

Our review of the 
accounting records revealed 
no additional related parties 
to those already disclosed. 

38



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Key area of audit focus Our approach Resolution 

Going concern disclosure 

There is a risk that the 

accounts will not be 

prepared on the correct 

basis as InvestSK has 

ceased trading at the year 

end and has no plans to 

continue trading into 

2022/23. 

 

Discussions will be held with 
management as to the 
future of the business and 
as to whether any further 
developments may have 
arisen regarding revitalising 
trade within the next 12 
months. 

The accounts will be 
reviewed for management’s 
disclosures relating to going 
concern and their adequacy 
will be assessed against our 
assumptions of the 
business’ going concern 
status at the year end. We 
will request for amendments 
to be made to the 
disclosures where 
necessary in order to reflect 
the accounts in a true and 
fair light. 

 

Discussions with 
management did not 
highlight any plans to 
revitalise the trade of 
InvestSK within the next 12 
months – the business 
maintains the position to 
cease all trade for the 
foreseeable future. 

 

The accounts were 
reviewed to ensure that 
adequate disclosures have 
been made. A revision was 
suggested to update the 
accounts to reflect being 
prepared on a going 
concern basis with 
adequate disclosures 
present within the notes to 
the accounts. The change 
was made and no further 
issues were noted.  

39



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 4 

3. Issues identified during the audit 

No further issues were identified during the audit that were not addressed at the planning 
or completion stage and highlighted in our Audit Plan that we consider should be brought 
to the attention of those charged with governance. 

 

  

40



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 5 

4. Internal control issues 

We set out below internal control matters that were noted during the course of our audit. 
This does not constitute a comprehensive statement of all weaknesses that may exist in 
internal controls or of all improvements which may be made. An audit is not designed to 
identify all matters that may be relevant to the directors. Accordingly, the audit does not 
ordinarily identify all such matters.  

It should be noted that the matters dealt with in this summary came to our attention during 
the normal conduct of our audit and should not be relied upon to disclose all weaknesses 
in your system of internal control and reporting. 

The company’s internal controls should prevent and / or detect material fraud. We are 
pleased to report that our audit has not found any instances of fraud and you have not 
brought any such matters to our attention. 

Our work has not identified any instances of material breaches, and the organisation 
appears to have devoted sufficient resources, experience, skills, and training to all key 
regulatory aspects of its affairs. 

 

 
  

41



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 6 

5. Uncertainties and account policies 

Significant account policies 

The directors are required to consider the appropriateness of the accounting policies of the 
company prior to approving the financial statements. 

We consider that the accounting policies adopted are appropriate for the circumstances 
and consistent with standard policies adopted across the industry. 

Uncertainties, risks, exposures, estimates, judgemental issues and going concern 

No significant uncertainties, risks, exposures, estimates, judgemental or going concern 
issues were noted by the auditors for which the auditors believe it is necessary to 
communicate to those charged with governance. 

 

  

42



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 7 

6. Audit adjustments 

With management approval, the following adjusted misstatements were identified during 
the course of our audit work. 

  

Nature of item Adjusted profit and 

loss effect (£) 

  

 

  

Profit/(Loss) per management accounts    135,979 

Accounts adjustments:  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Profit/(Loss) per draft financial statements 135.979 

  

Audit adjustments:  Accrual of funding reimbursement to SKDC 

 

 

(135,000) 

Corporation tax adjustment  

  

Profit/(Loss) after taxation per final financial statements 979 

43



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 8 

7. Unadjusted misstatements 

The following unadjusted misstatements were identified during the course of our audit 
work. We consider these to be of an immaterial nature within the financial statements 

 

Nature of item Unadjusted profit 

and loss effect (£) 

 

  

Factual:  

Decrease income – effects of unposted credit note -4,363 

Decrease purchases – duplicated invoice to reverse 5,843 

  

Total unadjusted increase/(decrease) to profit 1,480 

44



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 9 

8. Governance and control 

Introduction 

This section details matters relating to the process adopted by us to ensure the quality of 
our services to our clients and the robustness of our audit procedures. It also summarises 
the procedures adopted to ensure our independence. 

Quality reviews 

Independent quality reviews are carried out by Mercia Group Limited (Mercia) on an 
annual basis as required by our Practice Assurance Committee. The inspection includes 
testing of the effectiveness and quality of our audits, and a continuous improvement 
programme exists to ensure that standards are maintained and improved. 

Mercia is an independent provider of support services to the accountancy profession. The 
Mercia reviewers are experienced and qualified individuals. 

Hot review 

If contentious or high-risk areas are identified during the audit, then a ‘hot review’ will be 
conducted by an independent technical director before the accounts are signed. The 
purpose of this is to identify and rectify any areas of non-compliance with UK law, 
Accounting Standards and other regulatory requirements that may be contained within the 
draft accounts. The hot review director will also consider key areas of our audit working 
papers to confirm that sufficient, appropriate audit evidence has been obtained in respect 
of all significant items in the financial statements. 

Long association 

We confirm our procedures on long association are in compliance with the ethical 
standards. Where a director has acted for a continuous period of more than ten years, 
these require director rotation or putting in place safeguards to protect independence and 
objectivity. 

As Theo Banos has not acted for a continuous period exceeding ten years, a second 
director review will not be carried out on this assignment prior to the audit report being 
signed. 

  

45



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 10 

Independence 

All Duncan & Toplis Limited personnel must adhere to strict regulatory, professional, and 
internal independence requirements related to investments or business relationships with 
clients. All directors and staff must annually certify their compliance with these personal 
independence rules. 

Duncan & Toplis Limited is authorised by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales (ICAEW), to carry out statutory audits. Members of this institute and 
other accounting bodies are bound by the Ethical Code, which covers, inter alia, 
objectivity, independence, confidentiality, and integrity. 

Theo Banos is a member of the ICAEW and is required to maintain relevant Continuing 
Professional Development via training courses and seminars and, as an audit director, 
must be a Responsible Individual as defined by Audit Regulations. 

In addition, Duncan & Toplis Limited has internal requirements that must be met by all 
directors undertaking audit work. These include internal authorisation to undertake audits 
and perform cold reviews of working files. These are in addition to external reviews carried 
out by Mercia on behalf of the Practise Assurance Committee. 

Directors and team members (including family members) of Duncan & Toplis Limited are 
forbidden to invest in any client of the firm and a restricted client list, which is regularly 
updated, is maintained. This is reinforced on both our Directors Agreement and terms and 
conditions of employment. 

In accordance with International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260 “Communication of audit 
matters with those charged with governance”, there are no changes to the details of 
relationships between Duncan & Toplis Limited and its related entities and InvestSK 
Limited that may reasonably be thought to bear on Duncan & Toplis Limited independence 
and the objectivity of the Senior Statutory Auditor, Theo Banos, and the audit staff and the 
related safeguards from those previously communicated to you. 

  

46



DUNCAN & TOPLIS | AUDIT FINDINGS FOR INVESTSK LIMITED 11 

 

 

 

 

47



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Companies 
Committee 
 
 

1 December 2022 
 
Report of Councillor Adam Stokes, 
Chairman of LeisureSK Ltd 
 
 

 

 

LeisureSK Ltd Draft Accounts for 2021/2022 and 

consideration of a Management Fee for 2023/2024  
 

Report Author 

Nicola McCoy-Brown, Director of LeisureSK Ltd 

  nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

To present to Companies Committee the draft financial accounts for LeisureSK Ltd up to 

31 March 2022 and request consideration of the level of management fee being sought by 

LeisureSK Ltd from the Council for financial year 2023/2024. 

 

 

Recommendations 

In receiving the draft financial accounts for LeisureSK Ltd up to 31 March 2022 
and taking into account the context of the Council’s current financial position and 
the need to produce balanced and financial plans for next financial year, 
Companies Committee is requested to:  

1. Recommend to Cabinet a budget allocation of up to £500,000 to support 
LeisureSK Ltd for the financial year 2023/2024.  

2. Agree to receive the audited accounts for the period up to 31 March 2022 at the 
January 2023 Companies Committee meeting.  

 

 

49

Agenda Item 7

mailto:nicola.mccoy-brown@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

Growth and our economy 

Healthy and strong communities 

 

Which wards are impacted? Two or more Wards 

 

1. Background to the Report 
 
1.1  The South Kesteven Corporate Plan (2020-2023) sees the sustainability of public 

sport and leisure facilities and services is key to supporting the health of the District, 
tackling health inequalities and driving both local economic and social value to 
communities. 

 
1.2 Since September 2020, South Kesteven District Council has been providing 

financial support to LesiureSK Ltd in the form of a management fee. This has meant 
the Council has funded the actual net deficit incurred in the operation of the service 
after taking into account the income generated and expenditure incurred.  

 
1.3 Six months after the establishment of the wholly-owned Teckal company, on 18 May 

2021 Cabinet decided to increase the budget allocation previously agreed to 
support LeisureSK Ltd for the financial year 2021/2022. Grant funding from Sport 
England of £320,597 was accepted at the same time to support the reopening of 
the leisure facilities. There are three leisure centres (in Bourne, Grantham and 
Stamford) currently operating and trading. The lockdown closures meant a 
significant amount of participants and memberships did not return. During periods 
of closure LeisureSK Ltd continued to employ staff (some of which were furloughed) 
and sites were maintained. Today, 19 months on from reopening, the recovery back 
to pre-COVID financial performance is proving to be difficult.  

 
1.4 Companies Committee last received an update on the Council-owned and not-for-

profit Teckal company, LeisureSK Ltd, on 7 October 2022. That report presented 
the financial accounts for LeisureSK Ltd up to 31 March 2021. Appended as a 
background paper, was the LeisureSK Ltd Business Plan for 2022/2023.  

 
1.3 South Kesteven District Council strives to  maintain a balanced budget, however, is 

currently experiencing  rising costs driven by an increase in inflation, increases in 
the cost-of-living and significant rise in utilities costs. As  budget preparations  are 
underway at the Council to set a balanced budget for 2023/2024, in presenting the 
draft financial accounts for LeisureSK Ltd up to 31 March 2022, this report requests 
Companies Committee considers the level of management fee required by 
LeisureSK Ltd for the next financial year. 

 

50



1.4 The accounts for LeisureSK Ltd March 2022 are in the process of being audited.   A 
draft version of the financial accounts up to 31 March 2022 are provided as an 
exempt item at Appendix A. It is recommended the audited accounts are 
presented to 24 January 2023 meeting of Companies Committee.  

 
1.5 In the intervening months since LeisureSK Ltd’s financial year end took place i.e. 

from April 2022 onwards, work has continued to improve participation rates of the 
leisure centres.  There have been improvements to on-line booking, an improved 
choice of fitness classes and enhanced marketing of services. The leisure centres 
are widely promoted, LeisureSK Ltd has its own website and social media platforms 
(https://www.leisuresk.co.uk) and the company is featured on the HelloSK app 
(https://join.hellosk.co.uk). 

 
1.6 Investing in sustainable, high quality leisure facilities across the district is a key 

performance measure for the Council. Accordingly, the LeisureSK Ltd Board 
continues to look for ways for LeisureSK Ltd to become more efficient in the way 
the leisure centres are operated and identify savings in areas where costs can be 
reduced. This has included looking at the way people use the leisure centres, when 
they are busy, and when they are less so, and which centres have the potential to 
increase the number of customers using them. Opening hours of the swimming 
pools reflect customer usage patterns.   

 
1.7 This approach is part of wider plans to improve the leisure centres which has, and 

will continue, to see investment in the routine maintenance of the leisure facilities.  
In lockstep with the Council, LeisureSK Ltd’s priority is for people to continue to use 
and enjoy the leisure facilities and encourage more people to use them.  Investing 
in the facilities to make sure people have the best possible experience to improve 
their health and wellbeing has been a priority in 2022.  Paragraphs 1.8 to 1.14 
provide detail on the recent Conditions Survey’s undertaken.  

 
 Conditions Surveys 
 
1.8 A budget of £150,000 was included in the Council’s Property budget for 2022/2023 

for urgent repair and maintenance works across the leisure centres. In addition one-
off funding of £400,000 was made available during 2022/23 to provide additional 
funding to support urgent maintenance works across the  whole of the Council’s 
General Fund assets  should any  urgent works be identified. 

 
1.9 Earlier in 2022, building conditions surveys were undertaken for Bourne, Grantham 

and Stamford Leisure Centres. Prior to the surveys being received some urgent 
works had already been identified. The surveys were carried out by William 
Saunders, a suitably qualified multi-disciplinary practice of architects, engineers and 
construction experts.   

1.10 The survey results received, detailed the necessary repairs and maintenance 
required for the next 30 years. The responsibility for assessing and prioritising works 
identified in the condition surveys was jointly undertaken between the Council’s 
Leisure team, for their operational knowledge, and the Property team for their 
building and technical expertise. An exercise took place to crossmatch the urgent 
works identified previously with the results of the condition surveys.  Where urgent 

51

https://www.leisuresk.co.uk/
https://join.hellosk.co.uk/


works had been identified, orders were placed.  This included the replacement boiler 
at Stamford Leisure Pool (as it was operating on one boiler), the replacement air 
conditioning at Bourne Leisure Centre and replacement fire doors at Bourne, 
Grantham and Stamford.   

1.11 The surveys gave guidance on what remedial works may be required, these being  
categorised into four groups:  

• Works required which pose a health and safety risk or where items were at end 
of life 

• Works to resolve operational and building issues 

• Works which are affecting the income potential of LeisureSK Ltd, and therefore 
increasing the Council’s subsidy 

• Works which if undertaken now, would limit further costs in the future 

1.12 The timely appointment in August 2022 of the Council’s Team Leader for Leisure 
and Open Spaces, who possessed recent leisure operational experience, meant 
work started straightaway on planning and priortising the necessary works.  Actions 
were captured in a table format which has now become a tracking document, noting 
when orders have been placed and works completed. 

1.13 Works vary across the three centres, with maintenance requirements including: 
replacement air conditioning, replacement boilers, filter refurbishments, Ultraviolet 
(UV) System update (to kill bacteria in the water), chemical dosing system (to 
control septicity and odour emissions), fire doors, water system works (to ensure 
the highest water quality available) and wave machines.    

 

Information to support the Management Fee request for 2023/2024 

1.14 To assist Members with the request to consider the management fee for 2023/2024, 
the remainder of this report provides further insight into the two largest areas of 
expenditure for LeisureSK Ltd, namely staffing and utilities, and covers a recent 
energy efficiencies appraisal and projections for 2023/2024. 

Staffing costs 

1.15 On 24 November 2022, Council received a report to determine whether the 
previously agreed refurbishment of Deepings Leisure Centre would proceed given 
the significant changes to the Council’s financial outlook. That report confirmed the 
largest area of expenditure for LeisureSK Ltd is staffing costs.  

1.16 The staff previously employed by 1Life were transferred to LeisureSK Ltd under 
Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations (TUPE), most 
being on national minimum wage. In addition, there was no clear pay policy or 
staffing structure, which as well as causing some anomalies, resulted in staff 
retention issues and difficulty in recruiting to vacant roles. In response, the Board of 
Directors for LeisureSK Ltd subsequently commissioned a full pay review and 
restructure, which is now in place.     

1.17 Considering the current cost of living pressures, a further piece of work is underway 
to identify a suitable pay award for the employees of LeisureSK Ltd. This is likely to 
add in a £180,000 pressure to the budget for LeisureSK Ltd for 2023/2024. 

52



Utility costs 2022-2023 

1.18 LeisureSK Ltd is being adversely and disproportionately affected by fluctuations in 
the energy market, especially as leisure centres have high energy demands, which 
increase significantly when the facilities include swimming pools.  Energy costs are 
the second highest cost for LeisureSK Ltd after staffing costs. This is further 
exacerbated because the leisure estate is ageing and energy inefficient. The recent 
conditions survey exercise undertaken show the public swimming pools and sports 
halls need replacing or refurbishing. It has previously been identified that these 
ageing assets are contributing just over 40 per cent of the councils’ direct carbon 
emissions.      

1.19 The budget for utilities for 2022/2023 was set before significant increases in 
wholesale energy prices were expected. Alongside the Council, LeisureSK Ltd is 
signed up to the public sector owned professional buying organisation Eastern 
Shires Purchasing Organisation (ESPO) energy scheme, this kept electricity costs 
fixed until October 2022 and gas costs are fixed until April 2023. The increase in 
electricity costs for October 2022 was expected to be 80-90%.       

1.20 The Government launched the Energy Bill Relief Scheme which began running in 
October 2022 for six months, capping the unit price to 21.1p per kilowatt hour (kwh). 
Through the ESPO scheme, LeisureSK Ltd are paying 21.6p per kwh. This means 
the impact of the relief scheme will be minimal. The budget for total utility costs for 
2022-2023 is £568,373. The current forecast costs for 2022-2023 is £795,691, this 
is an overspend against budget of £227,318 (i.e. 40%). 

Utility costs 2023-2024      

1.21 The latest ESPO update forecasts gas prices will increase by 300% from April 2023. 
This would increase LeisureSK Ltd’s gas spend from £185,655 in 2022/2023 to 
£747,747 in 2023/2024 i.e. an increase of £562,092. Electricity costs are budgeted 
to remain at the current level and therefore total utilities for 2023/2024 are projected 
to be £1,382,736. In comparison the total income for 2023/2024 is budgeted to be 
£3,426,881, the total cost of utilities therefore equating to 40.3% of LeisureSK Ltd’s 
income.   

Energy Efficiencies Appraisal  

1.22 LeisureSK Ltd is forecast to make a deficit of circa £138,000 in 2022/2023, however 
the, Leisure Recovery Grant of £307,000 ie yet to be paid over to the company. As 
highlighted in paragraph 1.21, given gas and electricity prices are predicated to rise, 
at a recent LeisureSK Board meeting, it was agreed that any surplus from the grant 
would be invested to improve energy efficiencies.      

1.23 Consequently, pool covers for the two main pools and the learner pool at Grantham 
Mere’s Leisure Centre will be purchased and lighting in the changing rooms and 
reception areas at Stamford Leisure Centre will be replaced to the significantly more 
energy-efficient light emitting diode light bulbs (LEDs). LED lighting products 
produce light up to 90% more efficiently than incandescent light bulbs. It is taking 
longer to obtain quotes for pool covers for Stamford and Bourne, given the 
complexities of the pool designs and demand in the sector.    

1.24 Experienced LeisureSK Ltd personnel, supported by the Council’s leisure team, are 
exploring further efficiency opportunities across the leisure estate.  

53



Projections for 2023/2024     

1.25 The Board of Directors for LeisureSK Ltd remain committed to ensuring the 
company can mitigate a level of the staff and utility increases and are exploring a 
range of opportunities to increase charges and reduce energy consumption.  
However, there needs to be due care when considering any action given the 
potential for reduction in users as, due to the current financial climate, users will 
have less available income for leisure related activities.    

1.26 A number of mitigations are actively being pursued. Whilst these will address some 

of the pressures, projections for 2023/2024 demonstrate LeisureSK Ltd will require 

financial support of circa £500,000, all of which relates to the uplift in utility costs, 

which cannot be offset by income generation.  

1.27 In reviewing the draft financial accounts for LeisureSK Ltd up to 31 March 2022 and 

taking into account the context of the Council’s current financial position and the 

need to produce balanced and financial plans for next financial year, Companies 

Committee is asked to recommend to Cabinet that an  allocation of up to £500,000 

to support LeisureSK for the financial year 2023/2024 is included in the budget 

proposals. 

2. Key Considerations 
 
2.1 Following the COVID-19 pandemic, prioritising residents’ physical and mental 

health is of even greater importance. As leisure centres continue to close across 
the country, South Kesteven District Council is bucking the trend by investing in 
them.  As articulated in the Council’s Sport and Physical Activity Strategy (adopted 
in December 2021), it is important for local people to have access to high-quality 
facilities to play sport, stay healthy and come together as a community. A newly 
appointed Leisure Officer started employment at the Council on 17 October 2022 
and has a primary focus on delivering the action plan contained within the Strategy.  

 
2.2 As part of the response to COVID-19 the seven Lincolnshire Districts have 

developed a culture of working closely together to identify and address 
challenges. The Districts have continued to embed this collective approach with a 
particular focus on the role of District councils in addressing health inequalities. The 
Lincolnshire Districts Health and Wellbeing Strategy was first developed in May 
2021 and is structured around five ‘lever’ areas: housing and homelessness; activity 
and wellbeing; environment and climate; economic inclusion and community 
engagement. These areas are where districts are uniquely positioned in the system 
to influence and where they can most effectively work with partners to deliver 
sustainable change.  

 
2.3 To enable both the continued development of the strategy and implementation of 

actions, the Districts developed a ‘Working Group’ with a lead for each of the lever 
areas. This has provided the basis for engagement and action with other colleagues 
in the health system. As a working group, the leads have worked together for 12 
months and have developed a high-level action plan acting as a framework to 
enable individual districts to create their local action plan, specific to their unique 
situation and needs. 

 

54



2.4 Members of the Rural and Communities Over and Scrutiny Committee will be asked 
at their 8 December 2022 meeting to consider recommending to 10 January 2023 
Cabinet meeting the adoption of the Strategy and the associated action plan for 
South Kesteven District Council as a framework for improving health and wellbeing 
across South Kesteven, as part of countywide work. 

 
2.5 Work has begun on working with key partners including Active Lincolnshire, and 

Lincs Inspire to develop a collaborative approach to increasing physical activity 
levels across the District. Officers have been working closely with LeisureSK Ltd to 
identify alternative ways for residents to engage with physical activity, away from a 
traditional leisure centre setting. This includes work to develop walks across South 
Kesteven as part of the Slow Ways initiative (https://beta.slowways.org) and work 
to identify healthy lifestyle programmes. 

 
2.6 As reported to 7 October 2022 Companies Committee, the Business Plan and 

financial monitoring of performance is kept under review by the LeisureSK Ltd Board 
of Directors. However, given the scale of financial challenges faced, the Council’s 
budget planning process has already started in preparation for the year ahead. 
Therefore, at a time of continuing financial uncertainty, it is prudent for LeisureSK 
Ltd to seek additional funding for 2023/2024 to ensure the request is locked into 
considerations by Members. This will help provide a firm foundation as the company 
prepares for the years ahead. 

 
2.7 Work programming is the planning stage of scrutiny, where subjects for further 

investigation are identified.  Members are therefore recommended to consider if any 

further ‘checks and balances’ need to be put in place to facilitate forward thinking 

and positive impartial scrutiny of LeisureSK. 

3. Other Options Considered 
 

3.1   As a private limited company, LeisureSK Ltd is obligated to compile financial 
accounts on an annual basis and file these with Companies House.  

 
3.2 The main driver for the establishment of LeisureSK Ltd was to secure the ongoing 

provision of leisure across the District. Without the requested Management Fee of 
circa £500,000, LeisureSK Ltd will suffer cashflow problems and may need to cease 
trading, resulting in the loss of leisure provision across South Kesteven. Therefore, 
the ‘do nothing’ option was discounted.  

 

4. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

4.1 The recommendations within this report provide a budget framework to support 
LeisureSK Ltd. The Management fee would be limited to the operational deficit of 
the company.  

 

5. Background Papers 
 

5.1 Deepings Leisure Centre - Report to Council, published 24 November 2022, 
available online via:  

55

https://beta.slowways.org/


https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s36168/Deepings%20Leisure
%20Centre%20Report.pdf (southkesteven.gov.uk) 

 
5.2 LeisureSK Ltd Accounts 2020/2021 - Report to Companies Committee, published 

7 October 2022, available online via:  
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s36168/Deepings%20Leisure
%20Centre%20Report.pdf teven.gov.uk) 

 
5.3 Sport & Physical Activity Strategy (2021 to 2026), adopted December 2021 and 

available online via: 
www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=28041&p=0 

 

6. Appendices 
 

6.1 Exempt Appendix A – Draft Accounts for LeisureSK Ltd for the period April 2021 
to March 2022. 

 

 

 

56

https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s36168/Deepings%20Leisure%20Centre%20Report.pdf%20(southkesteven.gov.uk)
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s36168/Deepings%20Leisure%20Centre%20Report.pdf%20(southkesteven.gov.uk)
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s36168/Deepings%20Leisure%20Centre%20Report.pdf%20teven.gov.uk)
https://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s36168/Deepings%20Leisure%20Centre%20Report.pdf%20teven.gov.uk)
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=28041&p=0


Document is Restricted

57

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Companies 
Committee 
 
 

Date 1 December 2022 
 
Gravitas Housing Ltd  
 
 

 

 

Gravitas Housing Limited 
This report provides an update with respect to the Wherry’s Lane Bourne development 
project.   
 

 
 

Report Author 

Richard Wyles, Director of Gravitas Housing Ltd 

 r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

The purpose of the report is to provide the Companies Committee with a progress 

position with respect to Wherry’s Lane Bourne.  

 

 

Recommendations 

 

1. Companies Committee is asked to note the update on the Wherry’s Lane 
Bourne Development. 

2. Companies Committee is asked to recommend to Cabinet that Gravitas 
Housing Ltd is dissolved upon the completion and auditing of the profit 
and loss account. 

 

 

 

73

Agenda Item 8

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 Background to the Report 
 

1.1 Members are reminded that Gravitas Housing Limited is a wholly Council owned 

company limited by shares that was incorporated on 30 January 2017 in order to 

deliver quality new housing in the District.  To date one scheme at Wherry’s Lane 

Bourne has been approved by the shareholders (the Council) and financing for 

this scheme was approved by Council on 2 March 2017.     

Current Update 

1.2 In January 2020 Gravitas Housing Ltd completed a 25-unit development in 

Bourne. The development provides five town houses and twenty apartments 

across 2 blocks. The marketing of the available units is with specialist estate 

agents who are working exclusively with Gravitas Housing to sell the remaining 

units.   

1.3 The affordable housing provision has been met with off-site commuted sums and 

these are being delivered as part of the HRA development new build programme. 

There are also 4 units at the development that are subject to discounted market 

sales (i.e. 80% of market price) to fulfil the s106 requirements under the 

Government’s Help to Buy initiative.   

1.4 It can be confirmed to Companies Committee that all 25 units have been sold 

and the final sale was concluded on 4 November 2022.  This was slightly longer 

than anticipated due to the recent volatility in the housing market and subsequent 

interest rate changes that have affected purchaser confidence.   

1.5 An updated projected profit and loss account is shown as an exempt item at 

Appendix A. The longer (than anticipated) sale period has had an adverse 

financial impact on the overall project as ongoing holding costs have been 

incurred.  The final profit and loss account cannot be finalised until all residual 

costs (such as legal fees, marketing fees etc) have been concluded.  Upon 

receipt of the remaining costs the final accounts can be prepared.  

1.6 As stated above a significant s106 payment has been generated from the project 

and this sum has contributed up to 60% funding towards much needed social 

housing in the vicinity of the Wherry’s Lane development and photographs of the 

new development are shown at Appendix B.  The development consists of 3 

bungalows and 4 flats.  This is a positive outcome that is directly attributable to 

the Wherry’s Lane development.   

1.7 The Committee is reminded of a series of positive financial impacts the scheme 

has generated beyond the 25 new homes in the centre of Bourne.  These are 

presented below: 

Heading Amount (£) Details 

S106 agreement 
payment 

504,000 Sum payment to be used towards 
funding of affordable housing in 
the vicinity  

74



Interest charged by 
Council on loan 

173,000 Interest rate on commercial loan 
between Council and Gravitas.  
This income has been credited to 
the Council 

Recharge of officer 
time to Gravitas 

172,000 Gravitas reimbursement to Council 
for officer time spent on the 
project.   This income has been 
credited to the Council 

Council 
Tax/Business 
Rates Income since 
2020/21 (empty 
hones charge) 

5,000 Income received to Council 
(representing 9% of the Council 
tax bill).  This income has been 
credited to the Council 

New Homes Bonus 
income  

188,000 Income to Council following 
creation of 25 new homes.  This 
income has been credited to the 
Council 

Projected Balance 
of Gravitas Housing  

750,000 Bank balance as at 18 November 
2022.  Upon dissolving of the 
company this remaining balance 
will be credited to the Council  

Equity Investment 
in Gravitas 

(1,120,000) Council investment in Gravitas 

Total 672,000 Return to Council on Investment 

 

1.8 It can be seen that the project itself made a modest profit before the expenses 

have been deducted.  These expenses have significantly increased due to the 

duration of the project which exceeded its original project timetable due to the 

pandemic and an unstable housing market.   

 

1.9 The funding that was put in place between the Council and the company was 

only provided to provide funding for the scheme at Wherry’s Lane Bourne.  

Therefore in the absence of any further housing development pipeline projects 

and consequently no further use for the company, it is recommended that the 

company is dissolved once the final accounts have been prepared and audited.  

 

2. Key Considerations 
 

2.1 Key areas for Members to consider when reaching a decision. 

 

3. Other Options Considered 
 

3.1 No other options have been considered. 

75



 

4. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

4.1 There is no funding available to develop any schemes beyond the current funding 

arrangement between the Council and the company and therefore in the absence 

of further funding being made available, then the company should be dissolved.  

 

5. Appendices 
 

5.1 Projected Profit and Loss Account – Wherry’s Lane Bourne EXEMPT  

 

  

 

 

 

 

76



Document is Restricted

77

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Companies Committee: Work Programme 2022/23 

No  Item Meeting 
Date 

Lead Officer Requirements Notes  
(including reporting 
timeframes) 

      
1. LeisureSK Ltd 1 December 

2022 
LeisureSK Ltd 
Board 

• Accounts April 2021 – March 
2022 

• 2022/23 Finance Update  

Update 

2. Gravitas Housing Ltd 1 December 
2022 

Richard Wyles • Project Update Report  
To include end of period 
accounts 

Update 

3. Invest SK Ltd 1 December 
2022 

Jon Hinde/Nicola 
McCoy-Brown 
 

• Presentation of accounts 2021/22 Update 

1. EMBC Update 24 January 
2023 

Emma Whittaker 
Assistant Director 
of Planning 

• Review of the East Midlands 
Building Consultancy Business 
Plan 

Six Monthly update 

2. EnvironmentSK Ltd 24 January 
2023 

Claire Moses • Business Plan Update Update 

 

 Items to be allocated  
 

Item  Lead Officer   

EMBC update on Business Plan within 6 months 
from 26.04.22 

Emma Whittaker -
Assistant Director 
Planning  

Date TBC every six months 
 

EnvironmentSK Ltd update  
 

EnvironmentSK Ltd 
Board 

Date TBC every six months 

LeisureSK update on figures contained within the 
Business Plan – Sports Leisure Consultants to 
attend meeting to discuss figures referenced in 
Business Plan 

LeisureSK Ltd Board   Date TBC 

 

83

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 7 October 2022
	4 Updates from the previous meeting
	5 InvestSK Ltd - Presentation of Accounts 2021/2022
	Appendix A - InvestSK Ltd Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year
	Appendix B - Audit Findings Report InvestSK Ltd (31 March 2022)

	7 LeisureSK Ltd  Draft Accounts 2021-2022 and Consideration of a Management Fee for 2023-2024
	EXEMPT Appendix A - Draft Accounts for LeisureSK Ltd

	8 Gravitas Housing Ltd Project Update Report
	Profit and Loss - Exempt

	9 Work Programme 2022 - 2023

